
NPS Form 10- 900 OM6 No. 1024401804 
(Rev. Aug. 2002) 3 \ 4  

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
REGISTRATION FORM 
This foml is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See insbuctions in Howto Complete the National Register 
of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in Me appropriate box or by entering the information 
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1. Name of Property 

historic name Chestnut Hill 
other nameslsite number DHR File Number: 275-0016 
............................................................................................. -
............................................................................................ 

2. Location 

street & number 236 Caroline Street not for publication N/A 
city or town Oranae vicinity NIA 
state Virqinia code VA county Oranae code 137 zip code 23960 

3. StatelFederal Agency Certification 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination-
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic 
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property X meets 
d o e s  not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant n a t i o n a l l y  
-statewideX tacalb+--See continuation sheet for additional comments) 

y f l 5 x A - ..r -
Signature of certifying official /' 

Virqinia ~epartment of Historic Resources 
State or Federal Agency or Tribal government 

In my opinion, the property -meets -does not meet the National Register criteria. ( -See continuation sheet for additional 
comments.) 

Signature of commenting officialrritle Date 

State or Federal agency and bureau 

............................................................................................
............................................................................................. 

4. National Park Service Certification 

I, hereby certify that this property is: 

- entered in the National Register 
- See continuation sheet. 
- determined eligible for the National Register Signature of the Keeper 
- See continuation sheet. 
- determined not eligible for the National Register 
- removed from the National Register Date of Action 
- other (explain): 
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============================================================================================
= 
5. Classification 
        
Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)   Category of Property (Check only one box) 
 
    X  private    X  building(s) 
   public-local   district 
   public-State      site 
   public-Federal   structure 
   object  
Number of Resources within Property 
 
        Contributing   Noncontributing 
    2     0  buildings 
    0     0  sites 
    0       0  structures         
    0     0  objects 
    2     0  Total 
 
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register       0  
 
Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)    N/A  
 
6. Function or Use  
 
Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions) 
   Cat:    DOMESTIC  Sub:   single family dwelling  
        secondary structure (shed)  
       
     
      
 
Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)  
Cat:    DOMESTIC  Sub:   hotel; inn  
        secondary structure (shed)  
       
     
     
  
=========================================================================================== 
== 
7. Description 
============================================================================================ 
= 
 
Architectural Classification                                     Materials 
(Enter categories from instructions)                                             (Enter categories from instructions) 
 
  LATE 19TH & EARLY 20th CENTURY REVIVAL   foundation    BRICK      
        Greek Revival  roof               METAL: tin;  WOOD: shingles   
         Italianate  walls              WOOD; weatherboard                                  
  other              BRICK (chimneys)                        
 
 
Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 



 Chestnut Hill                                                                           Orange County, Virginia 
     
============================================================================================
= 
8. Statement of Significance 
============================================================================================
= 
Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National 
Register listing) 
 
   A Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad 

patterns of our history. 
 
        B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 
 
    X  C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or 

represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.  

 
   D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.  
 
Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.) 
 
   A    owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes. 
    X  B    removed from its original location. 
   C    a birthplace or a grave. 
   D    a cemetery. 
   E    a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 
   F    a commemorative property. 
        G    less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.   
 
Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions) 
     ARCHITECTURE  
       
       
   
 
Period of Significance      1860-1891    
                      
Significant Dates              1860;1891  
 
Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)   N/A                                                        

                                                                  
Cultural Affiliation N/A                                                       
                      
Architect/Builder    Alexander Daley (original owner)  
  
Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 
  
============================================================================================
= 
9. Major Bibliographical References 
============================================================================================
= 
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.) 
 
Previous documentation on file (NPS) 
     preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested. 
  previously listed in the National Register 
     previously determined eligible by the National Register 
  designated a National Historic Landmark 



  recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey   #   
  recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #   
 
 
 
Chestnut Hill                                                                            Orange County, Virginia 
 
Primary Location of Additional Data 
   X  State Historic Preservation Office 
  Other State agency 
  Federal agency 
  Local government 
  University 
     Other 
Name of repository: Virginia Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, Virginia.  
 
============================================================================================
= 
10. Geographical Data 
============================================================================================
= 
Acreage of Property   approximately 3  acres  
 
UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet) 
 Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing 
   1 17   752542   4236287   2                    3                          4                                 
    NAD 83 
 
Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)  
Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.) 
 
============================================================================================
= 
11. Form Prepared By 
============================================================================================
= 
name/title    Ann L. Miller, Architectural Historian and Mary Harding Sadler, Historical Architect  
organization    Sadler & Whitehead Architects, PLC       date    15 January 2009   
street & number   800 W. 33rd Street           telephone    804.231.5299  
city or town    Richmond  state   Virginia  zip code  23225  
============================================================================================
= 
Additional Documentation 
 
Submit the following items with the completed form: 
Continuation Sheets 
Maps A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location. 
      A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.  
Photographs Representative black and white photographs of the property. 
Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items) 
 
============================================================================================
= 
Property Owner 
============================================================================================
= 
 
(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.) 

name/title    Troy E. and Kathleen Ayers  
street & number   463 Pepperwood Ct  telephone    239.877.6333  



city or town    Marco Island  state   Florida  zip code  34145-3821  
============================================================================================
=Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:  This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.). A federal agency may not conduct or sponsor, 
and a person is not required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a valid OMB control number. 
Estimated Burden Statement:  Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 36 hours per response including the time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the National Register of Historic Places, National Park Service, 1849 C St., NW, Washington, DC 2024 
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NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION 
 
Summary Description: 
Located at the south end of the town of Orange, the county seat of Orange County, Virginia, the 
Chestnut Hill dwelling was completed ca. 1860.  The house, a frame structure standing two stories high 
over a low brick foundation, was built on a central-passage, double-pile plan.  Representing a 
combination of the Italianate and Greek Revival styles, the structure originally had a low roof that was 
replaced with a mansard roof in 1891, adding an attic story as well as an element of the then-popular 
Second Empire style to the house.  Threatened by the construction of a school access road, in 2003 the 
house was saved by the current owners who moved it in one piece approximately 150 feet southwest to 
a compatible new site that was once part of the same tract of land. The one remaining secondary 
building, a small shed, was also moved intact to the new site.   
 
Detailed Description: 
The site is a roughly 3-acre parcel carved from the original property.  A steep drive rises from Route 15 
(Caroline Street) just south of the intersection with Route 20 (Berry Hill Road) toward the house, which 
faces east, in its historic orientation toward Route 15.   
 
The Chestnut Hill house was built ca. 1860 as the residence of local businessman and politician 
Alexander Daley.  Chestnut Hill was originally constructed in the Italianate and Greek Revival styles.  
The two-story house was built of heavy frame construction over a low brick foundation laid in a variable 
course American-bond pattern. The two interior chimneys are laid in plain stretcher bond, embellished by 
decorative inset panels that would have been visible above the original low roofline.  The remains of 
pigment still visible on the chimney bricks in the present attic indicate that the chimneys were originally 
covered with a red wash.  Measuring approximately 44 feet- 4 inches wide by 34 feet-6 inches deep, the 
house has a broad central stair passage flanked on either side by front and rear rooms of approximate 
equal size.  The original windows consist of paired four-over-four-light, double-hung-sash, wood windows 
on the front (east) elevation, and six-over-six-light, double-hung-sash, wood windows on the sides and 
rear of house. Both the first-story front door and the second-story door (which opens onto the roof of the 
front porch) are double-leaf doors flanked by sidelights.  The original exterior window trim on the front 
and sides of the house includes pediments over all first-floor windows, simpler molded board trim over 
the second-story windows, and consoles under each window sill.   

 
The central, one-story, one-bay porch shelters the front door and has a balustraded deck above.  The 
porch is embellished with paneled square posts and pilasters, scroll-sawn balusters, and decorative 
brackets similar to those at the eaves.  Balustraded decks with the same scroll-sawn balusters extends 
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to either side of the central porch, running the full length of the house.  An early-20th-century photograph 
indicates that the porch formerly extended to the front (east) of the house approximately twice its present 
length.1  This porch was cut back to its present dimensions in the mid-twentieth century, when concrete 
and brick porch steps were added. 
 
In 1891, the original roof was replaced by the present mansard roof and the chimney stacks were 
extended, giving a Second Empire flavor to the original Italianate/Greek Revival  structure. Based on    
early shingles found in the attic, the steep lower slope of Chestnut Hill's mansard roof  was originally 
covered with fish-scale shingles painted blue, perhaps in imitation of slate.  The flatter upper slope of the 
mansard was covered with standing-seam metal as evidenced by portions of the earlier roof that had 
survived in deteriorated condition.  One-over-one-light, double-hung-wood, sash windows were added to 
light the attic of the new mansard story, which was originally unfinished. 

 
Around the same time as the addition of the new roof, a one-story bay was added to the northwest first- 
story room; this feature has simple Colonial Revival trim and two-over-two-light, double-hung-sash, wood 
windows.  An early-twentieth-century photograph of Chestnut Hill shows an early two-story, gable-
roofed, frame rear wing on the house.  More modest in scale and execution than the front portion of the 
house, this section, known as "the annex," may have been used as a service wing.  A porch and several 
small rooms (a two-story addition containing bathrooms, and a one-story kitchen  wing) were built onto 
the rear of the house as well.2  These rear additions, as well as the annex and a separate outbulding 
(possibly a kitchen/servants' quarter) were demolished during the Cassell ownership in the late 1950s, at 
which time a new one-story porch was built across the rear of the house.  Also at this time, the 
southwest first-story room was converted into a kitchen, and two bathrooms were inserted into sections 
of upstairs rooms.3

 
Following the house’s move out of the path of a new school access road in 2003, the brick foundation 
was rebuilt to replicate its original appearance, and a new, sympathetic rear wing was added to the 
house, replacing the late 1950s porch that had been removed prior to the move. 
 
The historic floor plan is a double-pile center-passage plan with two interior chimneys serving four 
fireplaces on each floor.  A large cased opening in the center passage separates the entry vestibule from 
the stair hall. A parlor and dining room occupy the front two primary spaces, while a second parlor (or 
family room) and modern kitchen are in the rear half of the historic first floor. A modest rear addition 
completed in 2006 encloses expanded kitchen functions and a powder room on the first floor and a small 
bedroom on the second floor.  The building is served by a central stair that is supported by a paneled 
wall.  The balustrade has stained wood handrail, straight balusters, and turned newels. On  the second 



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No.1024-0018 
(8-86) 
 
 
 
 
  

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES   
CONTINUATION SHEET                                        
 
                                    Orange County, Virginia 
Section      7 

                                                      Chestnut Hill 

 Page     3  
============================================================================================ 
 
floor the center passage is flanked by two bedrooms on the north and a master bedroom and three small 
bath rooms on the south.  The master bathroom retains the historic fireplace and hearth.   
 
The interior woodwork of the house has been changed very little over time; most of the original robust 
door and window trim, baseboards, simple Italianate- and Greek Revival-style mantels, and heavy turned 
stair newel posts have survived intact.  The typical historic wood doors have five panels and Italianate 
casings.  Crown moldings were absent from the original construction, but were installed by a previous 
owner, probably in the mid-20th century.  Between the dining room and kitchen and between the two 
north bedrooms, there are closets, which appear to be original, built into the walls flanking the fireplaces.  
 
A small, one-story, single-bay, 19th-century contributing shed with a hipped wood-shingled roof and 
weatherboard siding was relocated to a spot close to the northwest corner of the house, replicating the 
relationship this historic secondary structure had with the house.  
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SUMMARY STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 
 
Located at the southern end of the town of Orange on an approximate 3-acre site, Chestnut Hill was built 
ca. 1860 as a fashionable Italianate/Greek Revival dwelling for local businessman and politician 
Alexander Daley.  Daley, an Irish immigrant, had come to the village of Orange in the 1840s and founded 
a tanyard, leather dealership, and shoe factory.  His operations prospered, and Daley became an 
important member of the local business community.  Daley’s Chestnut Hill is one of only a dozen 
residences in the town to survive from the antebellum era and is one of the best preserved of these 
dwellings.  In 1883, Daley sold the property to Reuben Conway Macon and his wife Emma Cassandra 
Macon.  A Civil War veteran, great-nephew of President James Madison, and town postmaster, R. C. 
Macon lived at Chestnut Hill until his death in 1927, and the property remained in the Macon family home 
until the 1940s.  With the exception of the mansard roof added by the Macons in 1891, the original 
portion of the house has remained little altered. Chestnut Hill is representative of the types of residences 
constructed and inhabited by well-to-do businessmen and influential local families as the town of Orange 
developed from a small crossroads county seat to a significant regional town in the mid-nineteenth 
century.  It is eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion C at the local level for 
architectural significance because it is a rare example in Orange County of an Italianate/Greek Revival 
house evolving into a Second Empire-style house. The period of significance begins ca. 1860 with the 
date of its construction and ends in 1891 with the addition of the mansard roof.  In 2003, in order to 
preserve Chestnut Hill from demolition resulting from a road construction project, the current owners 
moved the house and a small shed, both intact ,150 feet from the original site to a parcel carved out from 
the original property.  The house and shed were rehabilitated by the current owners in accordance with 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, with careful attention toward retaining 
architectural integrity and reproducing the buildings’ orientations and the character of the site.  The goal 
and result of the relocation was that Chestnut Hill’s historic interior and exterior features have been 
preserved.  The house on its new location has the same orientation and topography as its original site.  
This move plan was pre-approved by the Virginia Department of Historic Resources, and the property 
also meets the requirements of Criterion Consideration B.  In most respects, Chestnut Hill house retains 
its historic late-nineteenth-century appearance. 
 
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 
 
In 1860, Alexander Daley purchased a lot of approximately 11 acres located at the southern edge of the 
village of Orange Courthouse.  Daley’s lot was one of two lots cut from the northern portion of the 
Howard Place plantation (now known as Mayhurst) by Col. John Willis, who had recently built an 
elaborate residence for himself on his property.  Col. Willis sold the second, adjoining, lot to the vestry of 
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St. Thomas Episcopal Church for a rectory; on the 11-acre lot Daley built Chestnut Hill.  Daley 
subsequently purchased, also from Col. Willis, an additional 31 acres to the west of the Chestnut Hill 
house tract, which served him as a small farm.    
 
Born in Ireland, Daley arrived in Orange County in the 1840s.  He married Sarah Brent in Orange in 
January 1847 and by the late 1840s had set up a tanyard just north of the lot where Chestnut Hill stands. 
 Chestnut Hill reportedly took its name from the groves of chestnut trees which stood on the property; 
tanbark from these trees was used by Daley in his tannery.  In addition to his tanyard, Daley also 
operated a leather dealership and shoe factory at the site.   
 
Alexander Daley was perhaps the most persistent among a small group of local businessmen who 
lobbied for the incorporation of the town of Orange.  An 1855 effort, possibly fueled by the extension of 
the Orange & Alexandria Railroad to Orange the previous year, culminated in a group of local men, 
including Daley, being authorized by the Virginia General Assembly to hold elections for town trustees 
(i.e., town council), but this failed to win the requisite written support of a majority of voters in the town.  
A subsequent effort undertaken in 1870-1871 was successful: Daley was again among those authorized 
to hold an election for trustees of the town.  He was the only man authorized to participate in this 
capacity in both the 1855 and 1871 efforts.  The town was incorporated and elections for the first town 
council were held in 1872.      
 
Following the death of his first wife in the early 1860s, Alexander Daley married Sarah J. Rawlings, 
daughter of local hotel keeper Richard Rawlings, in May 1863.   Several years after the death of his 
second wife in 1881, the aging Alexander Daley sold the Chestnut Hill house tract and the adjoining 
small farm to Reuben Conway Macon, a great-nephew of President James Madison, in trust for Macon's 
wife Emma Cassandra Macon.  R. C. Macon, a Confederate veteran who had served in the 13th Virginia 
Infantry, had been partly disabled from a shoulder wound received at the Wilderness in May, 1864.  In 
addition to farming at family properties, including his small farm at Chestnut Hill, he also served as 
postmaster for the town of Orange in 1885-1889.    
 
The Macons kept the Italianate/Greek Revival Daley residence largely intact, with the exception of 
replacing the original low roof with a then-fashionable mansard roof ca. 1891, and also adding a small 
bay to the north side of the house around the same time.   Both of the Macons resided at Chestnut Hill 
for the rest of their lives; R. C. Macon died in 1927 and Emma C. Macon in 1942. The house 
subsequently passed to one of the Macon sons, Clifton Macon, who sold the Chestnut Hill house tract, 
then comprising the original house tract and an additional five acres, to R. Mason Nalle in 1943.  The 
Nalle heirs sold the property, then reduced to 7.5 acres, to Mr. and Mrs. James Thomas Walker in 1948. 
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The Walkers deeded Chestnut Hill to Mr. and Mrs. Henry G. Cassell in 1956.  Mr. and Mrs. Gordon 
Schendel purchased the property in 1977.    
 
After discussions in 2002 between the Orange County Board of Supervisors, the Orange County School 
Board, and the Orange Town Council, it was agreed that the new county middle school would be built 
within the town limits, near the site of the present Prospect Heights Middle School, provided that the 
town would provide an access road to the site.  The town identified what it considered to be the only 
feasible route for the new road—through the site occupied by Chestnut Hill.  The town government 
acquired the Chestnut Hill property in May, 2003, and the house was slated for demolition.   However, 
after an outpouring of protests from area residents and organizations, the Town Council opted to sell  the 
house to someone who would move it from the path of the planned roadway by August 1, 2003.  A 
portion of the house tract was offered for the house’s new location. 
 
In June 2003, Mr. and Mrs. Troy Ayers acquired the house and the 2.95 acre residue of the original 
house tract with the intention of moving the house to save it from demolition.   In July 2003 the house 
was moved to a new site on the same tract of land, approximately 150 feet southwest of the original site, 
on the same orientation and on similar topography. The rehabilitation of the house was certified by the 
Virginia Department of Historic Resources and the National Park Service as being in conformance with 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for rehabilitation.  Chestnut Hill will be operated as an inn. 
 
Chestnut Hill is the only property individually listed in Orange County that features a house that evolved 
from the Italianate/Greek Revival style to the Second Empire style.  Unlike many of Orange County’s 
listed properties, which represent the Federal style, such as Greenwood or Wood Park, or reflect a 
strong Jeffersonian influence, such as the Ballard-Marshall House and Berry Hill, Chestnut Hill reflects 
the mid-19th-century popularity of the Italianate and Greek Revival styles, similar to Burlington, the more 
formal house George Stockdon built for James Barbour in Barboursville.  Some thirty years after 
Alexander Daley built Chestnut Hill in the Italianate/Greek Revival style, R. C. and Emma Macon, the 
apparently fashion-conscious owners of Chestnut Hill from the 1880s until Mrs. Macon’s death in 1943, 
responded to the craze for the Second Empire style by building a mansard roof on the house in 1991.   
 
Recognized by the community for its significance, the house has been preserved with its exterior Second 
Empire features and its Greek Revival-style and Italianate interior woodwork intact. Mansard roofs were 
constructed on (or on sections of) a number of substantial Orange County houses during the second half 
of the 19th century, including Rocklands, Hawfield, Mount Sharon, and Cameron Lodge.4  Of these, only 
Chestnut Hill survives, and it, along with Manual Level near Barboursville (with a late mansard roof 
added ca. 1915 to an 1815 plantation house) remain to illustrate this style in the county.5
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GEOGRAPHICAL DATA 
 
 
Verbal Boundary Description  
 
The nominated property is all of the property remaining in the historic Chestnut Hill house tract; 
parcel 044A400210001A.  The 2.953-acre parcel was created following the construction of the 
school access road as shown on the attached Orange County Tax Map, obtained from Orange 
County, Virginia’s GIS website http://www.onlinegis.net/VaOrange/asp/map.asp
 
Boundary Justification  
 
The boundaries enclose the current Chestnut Hill house tract of 2.953 acres which is a portion of the 
original 1860 Chestnut Hill house tract and historically associated with the house. 
  
 
 
 
 

http://www.onlinegis.net/VaOrange/asp/map.asp
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PHOTOGRAPHIC INDEX 
 
The following information is common to all photographs: 
 
Property: Chestnut Hill  
Location: Orange County, Virginia 
DHR File Number:     275-0016 
Photographer: Llewellyn Hensley 
Date: February 2008 
Digital Images Located: Virginia Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, Virginia 
   
Photo: 1 of 8: 
View:   Facade, Looking Northwest  
 
Photo: 2 of 8: 
View:  Facade, Cornice detail 
 
Photo: 3 of 8: 
View:   Facade, Door detail 
 
Photo: 4 of 8: 
View:  Northwest Corner, Looking Southeast 
 
Photo: 5 of 8: 
View:   First Floor Hall, Looking West 
 
Photo: 6 of 8: 
View:   First Floor Dining Room, Looking Southwest 
 
Photo: 7 of 8: 
View:   Second Floor Hall, Looking East 
 
Photo: 8 of 8: 
View:   Second Floor Master Bedroom, Looking Southwest 
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ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION 
 
Attachment 1. First floor plan.  Chestnut Hill, Orange County, Virginia. 
 
Attachment 2. Second floor plan.  Chestnut Hill, Orange County, Virginia. 
 
Attachments 3-5.  Photographs of Chestnut Hill prior to 2003 move, showing the house’s 
appearance at that time. 
 
Attachment 6.  Copy of January 2007 DHR letter to owners certifying compliance with Virginia State 
Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credit standards. 
 
Attachment 7.  November 2006 NPS letter to owners regarding completed rehabilitation project.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No.1024-0018 
(8-86) 
 
 
 
 
  

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES   
CONTINUATION SHEET                                        
                                                        Chestnut Hill 
                                      Orange County, Virginia 
     Endnotes      Page    11  
============================================================================================ 
 

                    

 
  

 
NOTES 
 
 1 “Macon House [Chestnut Hill],” Photographic files, Orange County Historical Society, 
Orange, Virginia. 
 

2 Personal communications, Theodore G. Scott, July 28 and July 30, 2003.  Mr. Scott grew up 
at his family’s home, adjoining  Chestnut Hill, and has detailed memories of the Macons and the 
property during the Macon ownership. 

 
3 Personal communication, Joan Cassell Lashley, July 26, 2003.  Mrs. Lashley’s parents, Mr. 

and Mrs. Henry G. Cassell, bought Chestnut Hill in 1956.  
 
 4 Ann L. Miller, “Rocklands,” “Cameron Lodge,” “Hawfield,” and “Mount Sharon” in Lost 
Virginia: Vanished Architecture of the Old Dominion (Charlottesville, Howell Press, 2001), pp. 73, 80, 
81, 84. 
 

5 Ann L. Miller, Antebellum Orange: The Pre-Civil War Homes, Public Buildings and Historic 
Sites of Orange County, Virginia (Orange, Virginia, Orange County Historical Society, 1988), pp. 78-
79.  
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